RECEIVED

Jun 10 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2024-UP-117 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed April 10, 2024)

Lower Court Case No. 2014-GS-08-00313

SHANA ROBINSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002216

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals err by affirming the PCR's order finding defense counsel was not ineffective for calling Dr. Robert Bennett as an expert witness in forensic toxicology in a felony DUI case, where Bennett testified petitioner would have had a five to ten percent "impairment rate" at the time of the accident, which was directly counter to the testimony of defense witnesses that she was not impaired, where defense counsel admitted the state "completely destroyed [Bennett] on cross-examination," where Bennett also acknowledged his license expired in 1999, and that the Board of Pharmacy had issued him a cease and desist order to stop holding himself out as a registered pharmacist, since defense counsel's failure to adequately investigate Bennett's background constituted deficient performance which prejudiced petitioner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history

Petitioner was indicted at the April 15, 2014, term of the Berkeley County Grand Jury for the offense of felony DUI causing death. App. 1233 – 1234. After petitioner had turned down a fifteen-year plea offer, her case was called to trial on June 2, 2014, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury. Aaron C. Mayer represented petitioner. Mason West and Bryan Alfaro were the assistant solicitors. App. 1. Defense counsel Mayer was suspended from the practice of law after the trial in this case but before the post-conviction relief hearing.¹

Petitioner was found guilty of felony DUI on June 6, 2014. App. 1122. Judge Jefferson sentenced petitioner to seventeen years imprisonment. App. 1140.

Petitioner's conviction was affirmed on direct appeal when the Court of Appeals filed an opinion dismissing the appeal pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). See State v. Robinson, 2016-UP-036 (filed January 20, 2016).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on February 5, 2016. App. 1143-1149. The state filed a return dated June 13, 2016. App. 1150-1154.

A post-conviction relief hearing was held before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles on October 1, 2018. Lance S. Boozer represented petitioner. Johnny E. James, Jr. was the assistant attorney general. App. 1155. An order of dismissal dated December 5, 2018, was filed. App. 1211-1232.

Petitioner, through undersigned counsel, filed a petition for a writ of certiorari with this Court on July 31, 2019. The state filed a return to this petition. This Court ordered petitioner's case transferred to this Court in its order dated January 7, 2020. The Court of Appeals granted

¹ In the Matter of Aaron Cole Mayer, 2018-08-24-01 (August 24, 2018).

the petition for writ of certiorari in its order dated November 23, 2021. The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction in Shana Robinson v. State, 2024-UP-117 (filed April 10, 2024). App. 1-4. Petitioner sought rehearing from the Court of Appeals. App. 5-9. Rehearing was denied. App. 10.

This petition for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals err by affirming the PCR's order finding defense counsel was not ineffective for calling Dr. Robert Bennett as an expert in forensic toxicology in a felony DUI case, where Bennett unexpectedly testified petitioner would have had a five to ten percent "impairment rate" at the time of the accident, which was directly counter to the testimony of defense witnesses that she was not impaired, where defense counsel admitted the state "completely destroyed [Bennett] on cross-examination," where Bennett also acknowledged his license expired in 1999, and that the Board of Pharmacy had issued him a cease and desist order to stop holding himself out as a registered pharmacist, since defense counsel's failure to adequately investigate Bennett's background constituted deficient performance which prejudiced petitioner.

Introduction

The indictment alleged that in addition to being under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or both, petitioner was speeding, and/or crossed the center line, and/or failed to maintain her proper lane. App. 1233. The state's theory of the case was that petitioner was speeding, that she crossed the center line, and that she hit the decedent's car while driving impaired.

Petitioner's defense was that she was not impaired. She had several lay witnesses, as will be seen infra, testify at trial that petitioner was not impaired after a couple of drinks over more than three hours on the night of the accident. Further, petitioner had driven on this road many times before, she knew the speed limit was forty-five, and she was well aware of the curve in the road where the accident occurred.

Relevant facts

Aaron Mayer was the civil attorney for petitioner's family at the time of the accident. He also represented petitioner in her felony DUI causing death criminal trial. The automobile accident and petitioner's "arrest date was November 10, 2011." App. 1163, ll. 3-18. This accident happened on a Thursday and Mayer was talking with petitioner in the hospital the next day, Friday. App. 1163, ll. 10-18.

Petitioner said as she talked "through everything" with Mayer, "it was our understanding that with all the evidence that was -- that was showing up, that I wouldn't see a day of jail time." App. 1164, ll. 5-13. Petitioner said she had no idea at that time what potential sentence she was facing for DUI causing death. She later learned she was facing up to twenty-five years' imprisonment. App. 1164, ll. 5-18.

Petitioner and defense counsel Mayer agreed that petitioner should turn down a fifteen-year plea offer because Mayer told her "you'll never see any jail time." App. 1165, l. 15 – 1166, l. 6. Mayer later testified at the PCR hearing: "I felt very strongly that the state would not be able to carry its burden. And I obviously led her wrong -- led her astray in that and I'm very, very sorry about that. I sincerely believed that between those *three factors*, I just didn't see how they could convict her." App. 1190, l. 20 – 1191, l. 21.

Mayer explained that those "three factors" were that the victim was allegedly talking on her telephone at the time of the collision, and she had her dog inside the car with her. Both of these were "distractions" that defense counsel hoped the jury would latch onto in somehow finding the decedent was "contributorily negligent" in the accident. That presented "a reasonable doubt" not to convict petitioner. However, as will be seen infra, defense counsel failed to subpoena the custodian of records for Verizon Wireless, and Judge Jefferson therefore excluded

evidence regarding the decedent's phone records which defense counsel's paralegal said proved the decedent was talking on the phone at the time of the accident.

In addition, the decedent's blood test showed that the decedent had marijuana in her system at the time of the accident. App. 1189, l. 2 – 1191, l. 24. However, Mayer later admitted he gingerly treated evidence the decedent had marijuana in her system at the time of the accident: “[A]t that time, which I believe is a failure, but my approach to that at the time that this was a fact that was so incendiary that when the jury heard it, they wouldn't need to hear it a lot more. Right? I mean, this was -- this was to me just a huge mitigating issue in who caused this wreck. And so, I didn't want to, you know, drag Ms. Zoll's² [the decedent's] name through the mud. I didn't want to do anything to disrespect the family. . . . I felt like the ramifications would be commonsensical, but I think I miscalculated that. I think that I should've -- I think that I should've been more of the black hat advocate and said, you know, all the things that that meant about the victim's driving and everything else, and I didn't communicate that. . . . I would do it differently today.” App. 1189, ll. 2-23.

As to the decedent's dog being in the car, Mayer said: “We knew initially that there was a dog in the car with Ms. Zoll and we had questions about the character of the dog, if the dog was calm and just kind of sit [sat] in the seat next to her or if the dog was more of the more hyper dogs and was bouncing around and would've been a distraction. I talked to a witness at one point who, I believe, was on the phone with Ms. Zoll at the time of the collision. I was never able to find that person again. I tried to do it with the phone records instead,” which again, were excluded for Counsel Mayer's failure to subpoena the custodian of records.

² “Decedent” is used in this certiorari petition for ease of reference rather than “Ms. Zoll.”

Mayer also said he had hoped to show that the decedent “was a routine user of marijuana, but also that she was actively high at the moment of the collision.” App. 1186, l. 2 – 1187, l. 9. Mayer was not able to accomplish any of these defense goals. His deficiency in not subpoenaing the custodian of records for Verizon prevented the jury from hearing the “phone distraction” evidence. Further, the trial records showed the defense was also unable to prove the decedent’s dog was a distraction to the decedent as she drove that fatal evening. The evidence only showed that the decedent’s dog was also killed in the car accident, which was obviously unfortunate also. Finally, as seen above, trial counsel admitted he made an error in judgment by not capitalizing on the fact the toxicology results showed that decedent had marijuana in her blood stream – possible impairment -- at the time of the accident.

As will be seen in more detail infra, Defense counsel Mayer would later admit that Bennett “was just completely destroyed on cross-examination. It was one of the worst moments of my professional career.” “[I] didn’t do much of a background investigation. That was my background investigation [family court lawyers] on Bennett.” App. 1192, l. 4 – 1193, l. 24. Mayer described Bennett’s testimony as being “horrible” for the defense. App. 1202, l. 5 – 1205, l. 7.

Petitioner would later state that Dr. Bennett’s testimony was a “train wreck.” Dr. Bennett gave his scientific opinion that petitioner *was five to ten percent impaired* as a result of drinking at the time of the accident. Petitioner’s defense was that she was not impaired that night, and several lay witnesses testified and vouched for that fact as seen infra. On cross-examination the solicitor had Dr. Bennett admit he had misrepresented himself in other cases, and that a “cease and desist order” had been issued against him holding himself out as a licensed pharmacist. App. 1170, l. 4 – 1171, l. 7.

Petitioner, stating the obvious, testified she absolutely would not have had Bennett as a witness had she or Mayer known any of these compromising facts about Bennett in advance of trial. App. 1171, ll. 8-10.

The accident

The car accident in this case occurred on November 10, 2011. One car was driven by Petitioner Robinson and the other car was driven by the decedent. Dr. Bennett testified that the decedent's blood tested positive for marijuana. He said this could affect a person's ability to "respond to stimuli around them," their judgment and ability to "multi task." App. 912, l. 24 – 913, l. 23.

Petitioner's blood was drawn at the hospital following surgery to remove her spleen as a result of the accident. Fifteen minutes prior to the blood draw, petitioner began receiving a blood transfusion. App. 331, l. 4 – 332, l. 13; App. 448, l. 6 – 449, l. 24. SLED toxicologist Tracy McKinnon testified petitioner's blood-alcohol reading was 0.09. App. 377, ll. 12-13. "Basically the ethanol level in this case at an .09 level the State per se law of a 0.08 percent so you're looking at something that's just over the State per se law for driving under the influence of ethanol . . . Ethanol is drinking alcohol." App. 378, ll. 10-19.

Petitioner suffered from Stevens Johnson syndrome.³ App. 824, ll. 8-25. The SLED toxicologist also testified that the prescribed medications for petitioner were within therapeutic dosing ranges. Petitioner took Zoloft as an antidepressant. App. 380, l. 8 – 382, l. 22; App. 419, l. 2 – 423, l. 9.

³ Stevens Johnson syndrome is a rare, serious disorder of the skin and mucous membranes. The symptoms of the disorder are fever and flu-like symptoms. It is a very painful condition. See Stevens-Johnson syndrome. [https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/stevens-johnson-syndrome/symptoms-causes/syc-20355936#:~:text=Stevens%2DJohnson%20syndrome%20\(SJS\),to%20heal%20after%20several%20days.](https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/stevens-johnson-syndrome/symptoms-causes/syc-20355936#:~:text=Stevens%2DJohnson%20syndrome%20(SJS),to%20heal%20after%20several%20days.) ; [https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stevens%E2%80%93Johnson_syndrome.](https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stevens%E2%80%93Johnson_syndrome)

The state's theory of the case was that petitioner crossed the center line and ran into the decedent's vehicle while in the decedent's lane. App. 517, ll. 4-10. State's witness David Lee was qualified as an expert in the field of collision reconstruction, and he testified the accident was a head on collision. App. 565 – 578.

Another witness, David Hill, testified for the defense as an accident reconstruction expert. App. 565, ll. 17-23. Hill and Lee agreed the accident happened in the decedent's lane, but Hill challenged Lee's findings as to the speed, and Hill also said the accident was not a head on collision. Hill testified petitioner's BMW was travelling at a speed of 47 miles an hour, plus or minus three miles an hour. App. 752, l. 3 – 757, l. 8. Hill offered that petitioner's speed had "absolutely nothing to do with her crossing the yellow line. The 79 miles an hour [the state claimed was petitioner's speed] is 100 percent wrong just like the animation is 100 percent wrong. And we know that because we did the math." App. 757, ll. 17-23.

Petitioner testified in her own defense. Petitioner remembered coming around the curve on a road she travelled on often, and she saw headlights in her lane. Petitioner did not remember what happened after seeing the headlights in her lane. Her next memory was talking to EMS inside the ambulance. App. 857, l. 5 – 859, l. 5.

The defense theory of the case, as argued by defense counsel Mayer in closing, was that the decedent's car crossed the center line first. That was why petitioner saw headlights in her lane before impact. Petitioner then crossed the center line to avoid the decedent, but the decedent corrected, causing the collision to happen in the decedent's lane of travel. Defense counsel also testified that the state had a theory of "imaginary impairment." App. 1040, l. 18 – 1044, l. 11.

Directed verdict motion

In denying petitioner's motion for a directed verdict, the judge noted the state's evidence that petitioner was speeding. The judge also reasoned that petitioner was taking medications, and evidence she "had ingested two alcoholic drinks" in a two hour period of time. App. 682, l. 14 – 683, l. 22.

Sobriety witnesses

After the directed verdict was denied, defense counsel told the judge that he would present four or five "sobriety witnesses" in petitioner's defense. App. 687, l. 12 – 688, l. 18. Janet Jurosko was the first "sobriety witness." App. 689, l. 6 – 690, l. 5.

Janet Jurosko testified she had been the auditor for Berkeley County for twenty-five years. Janet remembered seeing petitioner on the night of November 10, 2011, at Geronimo's, a restaurant and bar. She talked to petitioner that night. Janet said petitioner was not impaired. App. 689, l. 6 – 690, l. 5. Janet later learned the accident occurred 20 to 30 minutes after she saw petitioner. She repeated that petitioner was sober, she was not impaired, and Janet did not even see petitioner with a drink that evening. App. 690, l. 2 – 692, l. 3. Janet testified that petitioner was like a daughter to her, she went to church with her, and she would have given petitioner a ride if she had seen any sign of impairment that evening. App. 691, l. 23 – 692, l. 3.

Michele Metts also saw petitioner on the night of the accident. Michele testified that petitioner was sober and she did not appear impaired in any way. App. 695, l. 6 – 697, l. 17.

Jeffrey Forinash was retired from the Air Force. He saw petitioner at the Geronimo's restaurant and sports bar on the night of November 10, 2011. Jeffrey talked to petitioner for fifteen to twenty minutes. Jeffrey said petitioner was sober, and she did not appear impaired in any way. App. 700, l. 6 – 703, l. 15.

Robert Mittelstadt was a bartender at Geronimo's on the night of November 10, 2011. He remembered seeing petitioner sit "directly across from me next to Mr. Jeff at the bar." He served petitioner two vodka and cranberry drinks. "She never drank the second one because I asked her if she wanted it and I actually discarded that in the sink before she left." Robert said petitioner took thirty to forty-five minutes to drink that one drink. "She seemed normal. She was completely lucid. I didn't see anything as far as slurred speech. Her gait seemed totally normal. So it just seemed like a regular day." Robert said as an experienced bartender, he had seen many intoxicated people and that petitioner was not intoxicated that evening. App. 706, l. 6 – 708, l. 23.

The paralegal investigator

Christopher Robertson was working in counsel Mayer's law office as a paralegal. He also did "some investigations." App. 789, ll. 2-21. Robertson testified he learned through investigation that the decedent was on the telephone at the time of the traffic accident. Assistant solicitor West immediately objected on the grounds of relevance. The objection was sustained on the grounds of relevance, speculation, and the lack of foundation. App. 789, l. 18 – 790, l. 5.

Robertson then said during his investigation he was looking for evidence to show the decedent was distracted while she was driving that night. This assertion brought another objection from the state, which was again sustained, and the jury was excused. App. 790, ll. 6-21.

The judge then told defense counsel Mayer that if he wanted to introduce the decedent's phone records, he needed to have the custodian of records from the phone company, Verizon, to testify so he could have the records authenticated as a business record. The judge informed

Mayer he could not use Robertson as the witness to admit the decedent's phone records. App. 790, l. 17 – 803, l. 24.

Robertson's testimony was then proffered. Robertson said the phone records showed the decedent had an incoming call at 8:39 which ran until 8:43 p.m., which was the time of the accident. App. 804, l. 3 – 806, l. 18. Robertson said he concluded that the decedent was on the telephone with Patricia Malphrus at the time the accident occurred. App. 806, l. 11 – 807, l. 9.

The judge again sustained the state's objection to testimony that the decedent was on the telephone with Malphrus at the time of the accident. The judge reasoned Robertson was not the custodian of the phone records. App. 811, l. 1 – 813, l. 19.

Petitioner testifies in her own defense

Petitioner had worked for various oral surgeons and a plastic surgeon in North Carolina. However, in November of 2011 she was able to work from home for R.S. Medical company, "doing insurance verifications and pre-authorizations." App. 824, l. 13 – 825, l. 25.

Petitioner did not have any memory problems on November 10, 2011. Her memory problems resulted from the traumatic brain injury she suffered in the car accident that November 10, 2011 night. App. 825, l. 23 – 827, l. 6. Petitioner related that she had driven on the road where the accident occurred "thousands" of times previously. In fact, that road was even where she learned how to drive. App. 826, l. 15 – 827, l. 20. As to the curve in question on that road, petitioner testified "the speed limit on that curve forever was 45 miles an hour." App. 828, l. 3 – 830, l. 1.

Petitioner told the jury on the night of the accident she went to Applebee's just before five o'clock in the afternoon with her friend Brittany Hartley. Petitioner had a single cranberry vodka and they talked for an hour over that one drink. When the bartender asked if she wanted

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