STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge for Trial
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge for Post-Conviction Relief

RECEIVED

DEC 16 2019

Appellate Case No. 2018-002216

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Shana Robinson,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
S.C. Bar No. 101260
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Berkeley County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted at the April 2014 term of the Berkeley County Grand Jury for felony driving under the influence resulting in death (2014-GS-08-00313). Aaron C. Mayer, Esq. represented Petitioner. Mason West and Bryan Alfaro, Esqs., of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted the case. On June 2, 2014, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted on June 6, 2014. Judge Jefferson sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for a term of 17 years.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal and a direct appeal was perfected by Kathrine H. Hudgins, Esq., filing a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal by unpublished opinion. State v. Robinson, Op. No. 2016-UP-036 (S.C. CT. App. filed Jan. 20, 2016). The Remittitur was issued on February 5, 2016.

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief on February 5, 2016 (2016-CP-08-00300). In Petitioner's application, amended by and through counsel by filing dated September 27, 2018, he alleged the following grounds for relief in his application:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel, in that:
 - a. "Prejudicial testimony was allowed that should have been disregarded and prejudicial asst [sic] prosecution atty [sic] with hx [sic] of family matter"
 - b. "Counsel was in failing to subpoena the records custodian from Verison Wireless in order to introduce cell phone records of decedent showing that [sic]"
 - c. "Counsel was ineffective in his calling of an expert witness."
 - d. "Applicant believes counsel was ineffective for failing to secure and preserve a final ruling as to the questioning of a witness regarding marijuana when there [was] an agreement between the State and the Defendant to not discuss this information."

- e. “Applicant believes counsel should have challenged the chain of custody of the blood samples.”
- f. “Counsel failed to highlight throughout trial the presence of marijuana in the other driver’s system and that the driver was otherwise distracted.”
- g. “Applicant believes counsel should have requested that the prosecuting attorney be removed due to a conflict of interest.”
- h. “Applicant believes counsel should have objected to jury instructions regarding a motorist’s duties. (App. p. 1104-1107).”

Respondent made its return on June 13, 2016, and an evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on October 1, 2018, before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Lance S. Boozer, Esq. Johnny Ellis James Jr., of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, represented Respondent. By written order dated December 5, 2018, and filed December 13, 2018, Judge Nettles denied and dismissed the application.

Petitioner thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal. By and through counsel Robert M. Dudek, Esq., Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari on July 31, 2019. This Return follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the night of November 10, 2011, after drinking at least three vodka cranberries with a friend at Applebee's and Geronimo's Bar and Grill, and after picking up more beer on the way home, Shana Robinson ("Petitioner") drove out of her lane into oncoming traffic and collided with Candy S. Zoll ("Victim"), killing her.

- a. Petitioner's own version of events conceded a significant amount of drinking prior to the collision, which Dr. Robert Bennett opined would have only imperceptibly impaired Petitioner at the time of the collision, whereas Victim was high on marijuana.**

Petitioner took the stand in her own defense at trial. (Appx. 823-72). Petitioner testified that she met with a friend at Applebee's and ordered drinks starting "just before 5 o'clock[.]" (Appx. 832-33). Petitioner ordered two vodka cranberries. (Appx. 833-34). Petitioner ordered a third vodka cranberry around 7:15 P.M. at Geronimo's Bar and Grill, but could not recall much else of what she did there. (Appx. 835, ll. 1-17). Despite the three drinks in two hours, Petitioner asserted she was not impaired at all after the third drink. (Appx. 835-36). Petitioner and Victim's vehicles collided at around 8:30 P.M. (Appx. 237-42).

Counsel called Dr. Bennett as a witness in Petitioner's defense. (Appx. 872-927). Dr. Bennett testified to receiving a pharmacy degree from the Medical University of South Carolina in 1980 and that he worked full time as a forensic toxicologist. (Appx. 873, ll. 6-16). Dr. Bennett noted he had been qualified as an expert in [m]any, many other cases." (Appx. 873, ll. 17-22). Upon voir dire by the State, Dr. Bennett indicated he regularly read "toxicology and scientific journals as a regular part of my practice" but that he had not attended any classes since graduating in 1991. (Appx. 876-77). The State asked if Dr. Bennett's work had been subject to peer review and, after some initial confusion, Dr. Bennett offered that anybody could review his work. (Appx. 877-78). Dr. Bennett offered that he speaks at seminars and trainings, most

commonly to lawyers. (Appx. 878-89). The State did not object to Bennett's qualification as an expert in forensic toxicology, and he was so qualified. (Appx. 879, ll. 12-17).

Dr. Bennett denied specifically testing Petitioner's blood alcohol level, but approximated her BAC at the time of the collision to be "anywhere between zero and .01, .015" given the number of drinks she had consumed, her size, and the time that had passed. (Appx. 880-84). Asked how such a BAC would impact a person, Dr. Bennett testified "[i]t would make them impaired to a slight degree. Any amount of alcohol is going to cause some amount of impairment." (Appx. 884, ll. 9-14). Dr. Bennett thereafter testified that on "an impairment scale of zero to 100 percent" where zero is full function and 100 is comatose, Petitioner would have clocked in at a "five, ten percent impairment rate level at that amount of alcohol." (Appx. 884-85). Counsel asked if a person would even notice such a low impairment, and Dr. Bennett agreed that a person's "self-perception of impairment would be that they feel not impaired because the level of impairment is not that high." (Appx. 885, ll. 10-14). Asked if Petitioner would be capable of safely driving a vehicle at that level of impairment, Dr. Bennett declined to answer conclusively as to Petitioner specifically, but offered that most people would be able to drive a vehicle, and noted the legal limit for intoxication was set at .08. (Appx. 886, ll. 8-20). Counsel noted SLED's testing produced a different BAC result, and Dr. Bennett noted Petitioner had a cyst on her liver, that SLED may have swabbed the blood draw site with ethanol, and that Petitioner received blood transfusions at the hospital after the accident. (Appx. 886-90). Dr. Bennett also postulated Petitioner's blood could have fermented in the vial. (Appx. 890-95).

After a successful proffer, Counsel elicited through Dr. Bennett that Victim's blood tested positive for marijuana. (Appx. 910-13). Dr. Bennett testified Victim would have been impaired by her level of marijuana intoxication at the time of the collision. (Appx. 913, ll. 6-22).

b. The State challenged Dr. Bennett's credibility with a newspaper article, a circuit court ruling, and a pharmacy board letter, each of which Dr. Bennett rejected as unfair or motivated by pecuniary interest.

On cross-examination, Dr. Bennett testified he did not prepare any report pursuant to Counsel's request, and that though he had not yet produced a bill that he charges \$300 per hour for his services. (Appx. 915, ll. 3-22). Dr. Bennett agreed the elimination rate of alcohol through the body is somewhere between .015 and .02 per hour. (Appx. 916, ll. 17-22). Dr. Bennett agreed that a person with a blood alcohol content of .15 would be significantly impaired. (Tr. 916-17). Dr. Bennett agreed his conclusions as to Petitioner's intoxication were based on her reporting the consumption of three standard drinks, and that where mixed drinks were involved, the amount of vodka in the drink would dramatically affect the accuracy of his calculations. (Appx. 917, ll. 6-18). Dr. Bennett, upon prompting by the State, explained that alcohol, as well as all of the other drugs found in Petitioner's system, were depressants, which reduce a person's ability to respond to stimuli. (Appx. 917-18). Dr. Bennett agreed the use of a Betadine wipe to clean the draw site would not impact the accuracy of SLED's blood draw. (Appx. 918-19).

Dr. Bennett admitted to having never worked in law enforcement or attending the South Carolina Criminal Justice academy, and the State noted his curricula vitae indicated experience in crime scene analysis, fingerprinting, and gunshot residue. (Appx. 919-20). Dr. Bennett admitted to representing himself as a registered pharmacist for a decade despite the expiration of his license in 1999. (Appx. 920-21). Dr. Bennett admitted the South Carolina Board of Pharmacy had issued him a cease and desist order to stop calling himself a registered pharmacist, but offered that he was still registered with the South Carolina Board of Pharmacy, inactive though his license may be. (Appx. 921, ll. 8-17). Dr. Bennett acknowledged an article from the Charleston Post and Courier describing the reliability of his findings as suspect or controversial,

and that most of his training in other fields was self-taught from reading journals and books. (Appx. 921-22). The State confronted Bennett with a case where a mother temporarily lost custody based upon his findings, which were later contested by a physician. (Appx. 922, ll. 7-11). Bennett testified “[t]here are constantly questions about the practice that I have. Questions do not implicate a wrong doing; it’s just questions.” (Appx. 923, ll. 2-4). Dr. Bennett rejected the condemnation of the Post and Courier, arguing the newspaper’s job was “to sell newspapers.” (Appx. 923, ll. 9-11).

On redirect, Counsel emphasized SLED performed the tests in question and did so in an accurate fashion. (Appx. 924-25). Dr. Bennett again asserted that “keeping up with the licensure is necessary if you fill prescriptions at a pharmacy and that’s all.” (Appx. 926, ll. 1-8). Dr. Bennett noted that subsequent to his training as a pharmacist, he had studied and received a Ph.D. “in pharmaceutical drug sciences, which includes toxicology and pharmacology.” (Appx. 926, ll. 16-22).

In closing arguments, Counsel laid blame for the collision upon Victim:

The State drew Ms. Zoll’s blood immediately after the accident. She was not given any substances. She was not operated on. She did not receive six plus liters of fluid. She did not receive 28 different medications and fluids. She did not receive an injection of THC. That was in her system when she was driving that car. She was high when she was driving that car.

(Appx. 1030, ll. 4-10).

c. At the PCR evidentiary hearing, both Petitioner and Counsel testified that Counsel put considerable effort into the case, and Counsel explained Dr. Bennett’s shortcomings as a witness at trial were a surprise.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified she very frequently met with Counsel but that they did not much discuss Dr. Bennett, and that Counsel had found him to testify in her defense. (Appx. 1163-64; Appx. 1168-69). Petitioner testified the defense strategy for trial was that she was not intoxicated at the time of the collision. (Appx. 1167, ll. 9-21). Petitioner

recalled the cross-examination of Dr. Bennett was a train wreck, and that he was completely discredited. (Appx. 1169-71). Nonetheless, Petitioner expressed her opinion that Counsel “put his heart and soul into this case.” (Appx. 1178-79). Separately, Petitioner recalled that Grover Seaton, Esq., briefly assisted Counsel in her defense but was removed from the case at an early stage due to a conflict of interest. (Appx. 1175-76).

Respondent called Counsel as a witness at the PCR evidentiary hearing. Counsel testified that at the time of trial, he possessed about three years of experience as a practicing criminal attorney, and otherwise represented clients in family court, some personal injury cases, and the occasional immigration case. (Appx. 1183-84). Counsel was retained by Petitioner after meeting her through one of his family court clients. (Appx. 1184, ll. 12-17). Counsel received voluminous discovery in the case, including the MAIT report and hospital records, and discussed “all the main portions of the different things that came out.” (Appx. 1184-85). Counsel demonstrated a strong command of the facts of the case, and noted Petitioner’s memory of the collision was very, very bad, such that she had a very limited recollection of what occurred the night of the collision. (Appx. 1186-87). Counsel described his strategy as “reasonable doubt,” and that he felt strongly that he could show both that Petitioner was not intoxicated while Victim was under the influence of Marijuana, and was further distracted by a phone call and her dog. (Appx. 1187-92).

Counsel testified he knew of Dr. Bennett from his work in family court, and described Dr. Bennett as a heralded expert witness in family court matters, such that he commands the respect of the family court bench and is often specifically requested by judges. (Appx. 1192, ll. 8-21). Counsel explained that his background investigation of Dr. Bennett was circumscribed by the doctor’s sterling reputation, but noted that he did speak to others before hiring Dr. Bennett,

and that he may have used Dr. Bennett in the past in his family court practice. (Appx. 1192-93). Counsel vaguely recalled Seaton telling him not to use Dr. Bennett as an expert, but that Seaton did not articulate a reason why he should not do so, only telling him “don’t.” (Appx. 1193-94). Nonetheless, Counsel acknowledged Dr. Bennett was a “terrible choice.” (Appx. 1193, line 1). On cross-examination, Counsel again acknowledged the scope of the State’s impeachment of Dr. Bennett, and described the experience as “horrible.” (Appx. 1202-03). Counsel noted that despite preparing with Dr. Bennett multiple times prior to trial, Dr. Bennett had never brought up the percentage-scale portion of his testimony, and that it was very confusing when he did bring it out at trial. (Appx. 1203-05). On redirect, Counsel explained that Bennett’s testimony at trial, as compared to their pre-trial discussions, was new, “supplemental” testimony. (Appx. 1207-08). Counsel agreed that the testimony he had expected Dr. Bennett to give at trial, based upon their preparation, would have made more sense. (Appx. 1208, ll. 6-14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Id.; Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.

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